

STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION

Tony Evers, Governor Kathy Blumenfeld, Secretary Sanjay Olson, Division Administrator

VIA EMAIL

June 12, 2024

State Senator Eric Wimberger Co-Chair, Joint Legislative Audit Committee 104 South, State Capitol P.O. Box 7882 Madison, WI 53707-7882

State Representative Robert Wittke Co-Chair, Joint Legislative Audit Committee 18 West, State Capitol P.O. Box 8953 Madison, WI 53708-8953

RE: Report 19-26

Dear Co-Chairs Wimberger and Wittke:

Below please find the Department of Administration's update on final recommendations made by the Legislative Audit Bureau (LAB) in Report 19-26: State Owned Residential Properties. The Department of Administration (DOA) is appreciative of LAB's work to develop Report 19-26 and agrees with the report's recommendations.

<u>Background</u>: The original LAB audit commenced in December 2019 and resulted in recommendations that DOA to comply with statutory requirements, reassess practices surrounding state-owned residential properties, and increase its monitoring and oversight of these properties. In addition, LAB recommended that the DNR and the UW System comply with DOA policies and improve their management of the lease agreements they execute with state employees.

<u>Audit Response</u>: In response to the original recommendations, DOA: 1) updated its policy, 2) received Joint Committee on Finance approval of the updated policy, 3) appraised all State-owned residential properties leased to State employees, and 4) created processes for the management and collection of lease agreements between the State and State employees.

The policy updates addressed adjustments and tax implications resulting from reduced rents due to work or mandatory requirements for occupancy by State employees.

Additional Recommendations and Follow-Up: Subsequent follow up with the LAB and lessons learned from updates to the policies and procedures for state owned residential properties resulted in additional recommendations. Based on these recommendations, the policy was amended and again submitted to the Joint Finance on Finance for approval on April 8, 2024, which was granted via passive review. The most recent version of the approved policy is enclosed for your reference.

We are grateful for the opportunity to review, update and streamline our policies to improve our services. If there are any further questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

Marcel Maul

Marcel Maul Deputy Division Administrator Division of Facilities and Transportation Services

Rental Policies for State-Owned Housing

Date 2022.02.09

Revised 2024.02.17

Table of Contents

I.	PURPOSE	3
II.	HISTORY	
III.	DEFINITIONS	
IV.	UNIFORM RENTAL RATE STRUCTURE POLICY	
Α.	Establishment and Adjustment of Rental Rates	
1.	Determining Base Rental Rates	
V.	INCOME REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES	
VI.	UNIFORM LEASE POLICY	12
VII.	AGENCY USE OF RENTAL REVENUE	12
VIII. PROC	PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW OF RETAINING STATE-OWNED HOUSING UNITS AND DISPOSITION	
IX.	PROCEDURE FOR PERIODIC REVIEW OF SYSTEM OF POLICIES	14
X.	EXCEPTIONS	14

I. PURPOSE

The purpose of this document is to set forth a system of rental policies for state-owned, employee-occupied housing administered by State of Wisconsin agencies and the University of Wisconsin pursuant to section 16.004(8) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

II. HISTORY

The State-Owned Housing Rental program originated with the Laws of 1975 – Chapter 39 – Section 716(5), which required the Department of Administration (DOA) Secretary, in conjunction with other state agencies, to develop a plan for improving the efficiency of the utilization of staff housing. The plan called for criteria for the designation of housing for mandatory and optional housing; uniform policies for rental rates for each of the categories of mandatory and optional occupancy; procedures related to the phase-out and disposition of unnecessary state-owned employee housing; and procedures for reviewing and updating approved rental rates. Later that year the legislature added subsection (8) to Wisconsin Statutes section 16.004, which required the DOA Secretary to establish and maintain a system relating to the rentals charged for state-owned housing, review the system for possible changes every two years, and submit such recommendations to the Joint Committee on Finance (JCF) every two years. Subsection (8) required DOA to include in its system a procedure for review of the need to retain state-owned housing units and possible disposition of such units.

Subsection (8) was revised in the 1981-82 and 1987-88 biennia. The 1981 revision specified that JCF's review of DOA's biennial recommendations had to include approval of a rental rate structure for the following two-year period. The 1987 revision clarified that the reports to JCF were to include proposed changes to rental rates and added passive approval if a meeting to review the recommendations was not scheduled within 14 working days after submission by DOA.

Subsection (8) was revised again during the 1991-1992 biennium. The requirement for the DOA to submit a biennial report of changes to the rental rates and/or policies to JCF was removed and replaced with a requirement to submit such proposed changes (other than changes to rental rates) to JCF only when the DOA Secretary determines that such changes are necessary. The changes also removed the requirement for DOA to submit proposed rental rate changes to JCF for review and approval and replaced it with statutory procedures for adjusting rents. Under this statutory framework, rents are adjusted in three ways (explained in more detail in IV.A.1. of this policy):

- 1) Once every ten years based on appraisals of the fair market value of the housing units.
- 2) From time to time as is necessary, based on an appraisal of the fair market value when a housing unit undergoes major renovation; and
- 3) Every two years (excluding those years where an adjustment is made based on the 10-year appraisal) based on changes to the consumer price index.

III. DEFINITIONS

In this policy the following terms, when capitalized, have the meanings set forth in this section unless otherwise specified:

- A. "Adjusted Rental Rate" means the monthly rental rate for a Housing Rental Unit as determined by applying the adjustments set forth in section IV.A.3. to the Housing Rental Unit's Base Rental Rate.
- **B.** "Base Rental Rate" means the monthly rental rate for a Housing Rental Unit as determined pursuant to section IV.A.1. before adjusting thereto under section IV.A.3. & 4.
- **C.** "Fair Market Rental Rate" means the amount of money that a Housing Rental Unit would rent for per month as determined pursuant to section IV.A.2.
- **D.** "Fair Market Resale Value" means the amount of money that a Housing Rental Unit would sell for as determined pursuant to section IV.A.2.
- E. "Housing Rental Unit" means a residential dwelling, including a single-family house, a single-family unit in a duplex, multi-family or multi-purpose property, a condominium or cooperative housing unit, a sleeping room, a mobile home, or other residential unit, whether furnished or unfurnished, that is owned by a state agency or the University for the purpose of providing a primary place of residence to state agency or university officers or employees.
- **F.** "Mandatory Housing Rental Unit" means a Housing Rental Unit that meets all the following conditions:
 - 1) Is leased by an agency to an employee-tenant who is required to accept such lodging as a condition of his/her employment; and
 - 2) Is located on property owned by the agency leasing the Housing Rental Unit; and
 - 3) Is provided to the employee-tenant for the convenience or benefit of the agency.

For purposes of this definition requiring an employee-tenant to accept lodging as a condition of his/her employment is only a satisfying condition if the employee-tenant must live in the Housing Rental Unit to be able to properly perform his/her duties.

For purposes of this definition, the provision of housing to an employee-tenant is for the convenience or benefit of an agency if the agency has a substantial business reason other than to provide the employee-tenant with additional compensation.

- **G.** "Non-Mandatory Housing Rental Unit" means a Housing Rental Unit that is not a Mandatory Housing Rental Unit.
- **H.** "Rental Rate" means the monthly rental rate for a Housing Rental Unit as determined by section IV.A.4.
- I. "Wage-Based Rental Cap" means the maximum amount of monthly rent an agency or the University can charge an employee-tenant when leasing a Mandatory Housing Rental Unit. An employee-tenant's Wage-Based Rental Cap is determined by taking the employee's annual salary, dividing it by 12, and then multiplying it by 25%. The wages of Employee-tenants occupying Mandatory Housing Rental Units Wage shall be reviewed annually in July prior to receiving the CPI adjustment rate increases that occur on August 15.

IV. UNIFORM RENTAL RATE STRUCTURE POLICY

A. Establishment and Adjustment of Rental Rates

Rental Rates are determined by first establishing a Base Rental Rate and then applying certain adjustments as applicable to determine an Adjusted Rental Rate. For Non-Mandatory Housing Rental Units, the Rental Rate shall be the Adjusted Rental Rate. For Mandatory Housing Rental Units agencies must take the additional step of determining the employee-tenant's Wage-Based Rental Cap. For Mandatory Housing Rental Units, the Rental Rate shall be the lesser of the Adjusted Rental Rate and the Wage-Based Rental Cap.

1. Determining Base Rental Rates

Section 16.004(8) of the Wisconsin Statutes sets forth three ways for establishing and updating Base Rental Rates for state-owned housing.

i. Appraisal-Based Rental Rate Adjustments Every Ten Years

No later than July 1 of the 2nd year following each federal decennial census, DOA must obtain appraisals of the fair market value of all Housing Rental Units. DOA is required to determine and fix Rental Rates for such units based on those appraisals, with the new rates taking effect on the following August 15.

DOA shall provide a written reminder to all agencies that own Housing Rental Units that DOA will be conducting appraisals on such units and that Rental Rates will be adjusted accordingly. Once the appraisals have been completed, DOA shall determine the applicable Base Rental Rate for each unit and notify each agency of such determination. DOA and the agencies will then work collaboratively to determine if any adjustments to the Base Rental Rates should be made in accordance with section IV.A.3-4. The agency shall be responsible for notifying its employee-tenants of any applicable changes to their Rental Rates.

ii. Appraisal-Based Rental Rate Adjustments for Major Renovations

If DOA determines that a Housing Rental Unit has been affected by a major renovation, DOA <u>may</u> obtain an appraisal of the fair market value of the renovated unit, and if it does so <u>must</u> determine and fix a new Rental Rate based on the appraisal. If the appraisal is obtained prior to July 1 of any year, the rate shall take effect on August 15 of that year; otherwise, it shall take effect on August 15 of the following year.

Agencies that own Housing Rental Units shall notify DOA in writing of any renovations to such units upon completion thereof. DOA will then determine whether to appraise the unit for the purpose of adjusting the Rental Rate. DOA shall notify the agency in writing of its determination. If DOA chooses not to appraise the unit, then no rent adjustment will be made. If DOA chooses to appraise the unit, then the new Base Rental Rate shall be determined as set forth in this section, and DOA shall notify the agency of such determination. DOA and the agency will then work collaboratively to determine if any adjustments to the Base Rental Rate should be made in accordance with section IV.A.3-4. The agency shall be responsible for notifying its employee-tenants of any applicable changes to their Rental Rates.

iii. Biennial Rental Rate Adjustments Based on Cost-of-Living Adjustments

If no appraisal of a Housing Rental Unit is made during the 24-month period ending on July 1st of any even-numbered year, the current Rental Rate for the unit must be subject to a biennial cost-of-living adjustment. Six months prior to notifying agencies of the applicable cost-of-living adjustments, DOA shall request an updated list of all Housing Rental Units. Agencies shall respond within 60 days using the State-Owned Housing Rental Unit Inventory Worksheet attached hereto as **Attachment A**. In addition to completing the worksheet, agencies that have made any modifications to leases since the last 24-month period shall provide copies of such leases to DOA.

To determine the adjustment, DOA will reference the 12-month change in the consumer price index for all items. U.S. city average, from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics for December of the preceding year, multiply the current rental rate by that percentage, then add the product to the current rental rate and round to the nearest whole dollar. DOA will then notify the agencies in writing of the applicable cost of living adjustment to rent for each affected Housing Rental Unit. The new rental rate must take effect on August 15th.

Cost-of-living rental rate adjustments made pursuant to this section shall not be subject to section IV.A.3 adjustments, provided, however, that in the case of Mandatory Housing, the CPI-based rental rate adjustments shall not result in a rental rate that exceeds the Wage-Based Rent Cap. The agency shall be responsible for notifying its employee tenants of any applicable changes to their Rental Rates.

2. Determining Fair Market Value of Housing Rental Units

A Housing Rental Unit's Fair Market Rental Rate shall be determined by an appraisal. For the decennial appraisal of all Housing Rental Units, DOA shall request an updated list of such units from agencies. Once DOA has verified the inventory, or in the case of an appraisal arising from a major renovation of a unit, once DOA has determined that a rent adjustment is necessary, DOA shall be responsible for procuring a qualified appraiser or appraisers to perform an appraisal or appraisals of such unit(s). DOA shall charge the cost of such appraisals to the appropriation specified in section 16.40(19) of the Wisconsin Statutes or, if there is no such appropriation, to the appropriation or appropriations that fund the program in connection with which the housing is utilized.

DOA will provide instructions to appraisers that individual addresses must document individual appraisal reports; combining multiple appraisals into a single report is not acceptable. Appraisers shall include square footage, number of bedrooms, a floorplan, if available (provided by the agency), and photographs of the interior and exterior of the unit.

DOA will provide instructions to appraisers that the purpose of the appraisal is to determine the Fair Market Rental Rate of the unit(s) being appraised, and that the preferred method for making such determination is an economic approach that examines the rental rate of comparable housing rental units in the community:

Under certain circumstances, an appraiser may advise DOA that this economic approach may not be a suitable method for determining fair rental value (e.g., when a housing unit is in a remote location, or when a housing unit is so unique that there are no other comparable units in the community). In such instances, DOA may advise the appraiser to determine the Fair Market Resale Value of the unit using whatever methodology, in the appraiser's professional judgment,

will most accurately reflect the unit's resale value. DOA will then multiply the unit's Fair Market Resale Value by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board's expected nominal rate of return on real estate investments as reported in the Department of Employee Trust Funds' most recent Wisconsin Retirement System Financial Report. The result will be determinative of the annual fair market value rental rate of the unit, which shall be divided by 12 to determine the monthly Fair Market Rental Rate.

Agencies shall be responsible for notifying their employee-tenants who occupy Housing Rental Units that an appraisal will be taking place and shall coordinate with the appraiser(s) and employee(s) to schedule any necessary appraisal appointments once DOA has procured such services.

3. Adjustments to Base Rental Rates

Once the Base Rental Rates for Housing Rental Units have been determined, DOA and the agencies will then work collaboratively to determine if any adjustments to such rates should be made.

i. Permissible Factors to Consider in Adjusting Base Rental Rates (All Housing Rental Units)

The following factors may be taken into consideration by DOA and the agencies in adjusting applicable Base Rental Rates for all Housing Rental Units:

- a) A reduction to the Base Rental Rate if a portion of the unit is included in the demised premises but is not accessible or usable to the employee-tenant for dwelling purposes or is required by the agency to be used to conduct agency business. Any portion of the demised premises to which this section applies must be specifically designated in the lease agreement. Reductions must be calculated by taking the gross square footage of the entire premises and dividing it by the market rent to get a per-square-foot cost. Then apply that cost to the portion of the demised premises that is not usable to establish the reduction.
- b) An adjustment to the Base Rental Rate may be permitted if the employee-tenant performs work or services as part of their position responsibilities related to the agency's ownership of the rental unit or work location. The reduction in rent is intended to compensate the employee-tenant for such work in lieu of wages. The agency shall be responsible for compliance with and providing to DOA the required documentation to support all applicable IRS, WRS, and DOR rules regarding the treatment of such rent reduction as income to the employee. The agency shall provide DOA with documentation showing the estimated work or services to be performed by the employee-tenant, the expected number of hours the employee-tenant will spend each month performing such work or services, and the hourly wage rate the agency is using to determine the rental rate adjustment.
- ii. Permissible Factors to Consider in Adjusting Base Rental Rates for Mandatory Housing In addition to the factors enumerated in section IV.A.3.i. DOA and the agencies may take into consideration the following factors when adjusting applicable Base Rental Rates for Mandatory Housing Units:

- a) An inconvenience to the employee and benefit to the State where the employee lives in mandatory housing.
 - i. Based on the position description and/or appointment letter, that employee must perform those tasks promptly to serve the required functions of the position.
 - ii. Occupants performing additional duties beyond normal working hours may cause a lack of privacy or disruption related to providing services required as a function of their position.
- b) An adjustment to the rental rate may be permitted if the dwelling is poorly insulated or weatherized and the employee incurs unreasonable heating or cooling utility costs.

iii. Permissible Factors to Consider in Rental Rates for Multi-Tenant Housing

- a) Rental rates may be divided among multiple employee tenants if an Agency classifies a house as multi-tenant. If, however, the occupant count is not filled with employee tenants within 6 months from the date of the original submission, the remaining occupants must have their rent rate adjusted to be split based on the actual number of occupants. Employee tenants in multi-tenant homes may or may not be mandatory. The classification of a home as single-tenant or multi-tenant is at the discretion of the owning Agency based on program needs.
- b) An adjustment to the rental rate may be permitted if an Agency has multiple multitenant homes at a single location/campus to equalize all the rental rates at multiple locations so that the total rent collected is distributed and equal to the total appraised monthly rental rates for all multi-tenant homes at the single location/campus.

4. Application of Rental Rate Adjustment Factors

Once DOA and the agency have determined which section IV.A.3. factors are applicable to a Housing Rental Unit and the extent to which such factors impact the Base Rental Rate, the agency shall adjust the Base Rental Rate for the unit.

- iv. As applied to Non-Mandatory Housing Rental Units, such adjustments shall not result in a Rental Rate that is less than 50% of the Base Rental Rate.
- v. As applied to Mandatory Housing Units, the agency shall first make the applicable adjustments to the Base Rental Rate to determine the Adjusted Rental Rate, which shall not be less than 50% of the Base Rental Rate. The agency shall then determine the employee-tenant's gross monthly wages, multiplied by 25%, to determine the Wage-Based Rent Cap. The Rental Rate shall be the lesser of the Adjusted Rental Rate and the Wage-Based Rent Cap.

The new Rental Rate shall go into effect as set forth in section IV.A.1.

B. Charges for Provided Amenities

The following costs shall be charged by the agency to its employee-tenants, as applicable, in addition to rent:

- 1. Utility services should be furnished by a third-party provider and billed directly to the employee-tenant wherever possible. If direct billing from and payment to the provider is not possible, then the agency shall determine the housing rental unit's actual usage and bill the employee-tenant. If utility service is provided to a Housing Rental Unit and the employee-tenant uses the utility service for both personal and business use, the agency may prorate the amount it charges to the employee-tenant based on the agency's determination of the extent to which such utilities are used for business-related purposes, and in a manner consistent with any applicable guidance from the IRS and DOR relating to the treatment of such payments as income for tax purposes.
- 2. Convenience maintenance services, such as lawn mowing, trash removal, snow removal, or gardening, that are provided to a Housing Rental Unit shall be paid by or charged to the employee-tenant unless the employee-tenant performs such services as part of the required functions of the position. Agencies may prorate such charges where the services are provided to a multi-tenant facility, or where the Housing Rental Unit is part of a facility for which such services must be provided for all or part of the remainder of the facility. Prorations shall be calculated based on square footage.
- 3. To the extent that an agency provides certain amenities to an employee-tenant in connection with occupancy of a Housing Rental Unit, such as meals or cleaning service, the agency shall charge the employee-tenant for such amenities separately from rent.

C. Rental Rate Changes Due to Changes in Circumstances

In addition to any other information agencies are required to provide to the DOA, as set forth in this policy, agencies must provide to the DOA within 30 days of any updates or changes in circumstances that may affect Housing Rental Units, including the following:

- 1. Change in status of occupancy (mandatory to non-mandatory or vice versa);
- 2. Damage to a Housing Rental Unit rendering all or a portion of it untenantable;
- 3. Lease termination/expiration;
- 4. Change in the occupying tenant/new lease;
- 5. Change, improvement, or renovation, that may impact a unit's fair market value;
- 6. Change in use of a unit to non-residential use; and
- 7. Any other change that may potentially result in an adjustment to a unit's Rental Rate.

To the extent that DOA approval is needed prior to implementing a Rental Rate change, the proposed change shall be deemed approved if DOA does not respond within 30 days. Changes that do not require DOA approval may be implemented at the agency's discretion and in accordance with the circumstances giving rise to the change. Agencies may not implement any change in Rental Rates that are not consistent with this policy.

D. Future Acquisitions

If an agency adds Housing Rental Units to its inventory, either by acquisition or by converting existing facilities to housing, the agency must notify the DOA within 30 days of change or acquisition. DOA will hire a qualified appraiser to perform an appraisal of any new Housing Rental Units to determine the Base Rental Rate for the unit. DOA and the agency will then establish the applicable Rental Rate for the unit as set forth outlined in section IV.A.

V. INCOME REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

A. Internal Revenue Service Requirements

The Internal Revenue Service requires employers to report as income the provision of lodging to employees under certain circumstances. This section provides a general summary of IRS guidance. However, agencies are responsible for familiarizing themselves and complying with all applicable IRS rules. This applies to both WRS-eligible and WRS-non-eligible employees. Agencies are responsible for compliance with and providing to the DOA the required documentation to support all applicable IRS, WRS, and DOR rules regarding the treatment of rent reduction as income to the employee.

There are three basic tests to determine if the value of the lodging furnished to an employee may be excluded from the employee's wages as reported as income:

- 1. It is furnished on the State-owned premises.
- 2. It is furnished for the convenience of the employing State agency.
- 3. The employee must accept the required lodging as a condition of employment.

IRS Publication 15-B has more information about the specific parts of each test and examples: Publication 15-B (2023), Employer's Tax Guide to Fringe Benefits | Internal Revenue Service (irs.gov)

Different tests may apply to lodging furnished by educational institutions, Section 119(d) of the Internal Revenue Code covers this. This link will provide the statutory language governing this part of the Internal Revenue Code: 26 USC 119: Meals or lodging furnished for the convenience of the employer (house.gov)

B. Employees of Agencies Other than the University of Wisconsin

DOA Division of Personnel Management (DPM) Central Payroll staff will review an agency's position description for concluding that mandatory occupation of state-owned housing is applicable and if the requests for a rental rate reduction for this purpose falls within IRS guidelines.

DOA DPM Central Payroll is responsible for withholding taxes on executive branch agency employees' paychecks and reporting income on employees' W-2s. The provision of Mandatory Housing to employees is not reportable as income, but it is the responsibility of the agencies to provide the following documentation to DOA Central Payroll demonstrating that the housing provided qualifies as Mandatory Housing:

- 1. Documentation that the employee was required to accept such housing as a condition of his/her employment. Such documentation must include an explanation as to why the employee must live in the provided housing to be able to properly perform his/her duties.
- 2. Documentation that the housing is provided to the employee for the convenience of the agency. Such documentation must include an explanation as to what substantial business reason the agency has for providing housing for the employee.

Agencies shall supply such documentation to DOA Central Payroll no later than thirty (30) days from the date of the employee's occupancy of Mandatory Housing.

The provision of housing to employees that is not Mandatory Housing may result in reportable income, Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS), and tax withholding to the extent that the Fair Market Rental Rate exceeds the Rental Rate paid by the employee. Within thirty (30) days of any of the following triggering events, agencies shall work with DOA Central Payroll to provide information necessary for reporting any income and withholding any WRS and taxes resulting from the provision of housing:

1. The employee's occupancy of the housing; Any change in the rental rate charged to the employee; The employee's vacancy of housing.

DOA shall ensure that DOA Central Payroll is provided with information about appraisals of Housing Rental Units and biennial rental rate adjustments based on cost-of-living adjustments promptly so that DOA Central Payroll can accurately determine, for each Housing Rental Unit occupied by an executive branch agency employee, what the unit's fair market rental rate is.

C. Employees of the University of Wisconsin

The provision of housing to University employees is subject to IRS income reporting and tax withholding requirements. However, DOA Central Payroll is not responsible for income reporting for or tax withholding of University employees. It is the University's Human Resources responsibility to ensure that it complies with applicable IRS rules on income reporting and tax withholding related to the provision of housing for its employees.

University of Wisconsin (UW) Human Resources Central Payroll staff will review UW position description for concluding that mandatory occupation of state-owned housing is applicable and if the requests for a percent rental rate reduction for this purpose falls with IRS guidelines.

UW Human Resources Central Payroll is responsible for withholding taxes on UW employees' paychecks and reporting income on employees' W-2s. The provision of Mandatory Housing to employees is not reportable as income, but it is the responsibility of UW to provide the following documentation to DOA demonstrating that the housing provided qualifies as Mandatory Housing:

- 1. Documentation that the employee was required to accept such housing as a condition of his/her employment. Such documentation must include an explanation as to why the employee must live in the provided housing to be able to properly perform his/her duties.
- 2. Documentation that the housing is provided to the employee for the convenience of the agency. Such documentation must include an explanation as to what substantial business reason the agency has for providing housing for the employee.

Agencies shall supply such documentation to DOA no later than thirty (30) days from the date of the employee's occupancy of Mandatory Housing.

The provision of housing to employees that is not Mandatory Housing may result in reportable income, Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS), and tax withholding to the extent that the Fair Market Rental Rate exceeds the Rental Rate paid by the employee. Within thirty (30) days of any of the following triggering events, UW shall work with UW Human Resources Central Payroll to provide information necessary for reporting any income and withholding any WRS and taxes resulting from the provision of housing:

- 1. The employee's occupancy of the housing.
- **2.** Any change in the rental rate charged to the employee.
- **3.** The employee's vacancy of the housing.

UW shall ensure that UW Human Resources Central Payroll is provided with information about appraisals of Housing Rental Units and biennial rental rate adjustments based on cost-of-living adjustments promptly so that UW Human Resources Central Payroll can accurately determine, for each Housing Rental Unit occupied by a UW employee, what the unit's fair market rental rate is.

VI. UNIFORM LEASE POLICY

DOA recognizes that each Housing Rental Unit and employee-tenant presents their own unique set of circumstances and that agencies will need to tailor each lease agreement to address those circumstances. DOA also recognizes that uniformity and consistency in lease administration ensures equitable outcomes for both agencies and employee-tenants. To ensure consistent administration of state-owned rental housing, agencies should, to the extent practicable, use the Standard State-Owned Housing Rental Unit Lease Template attached hereto as Attachment B when drafting lease agreements with employee tenants.

Agencies may incorporate additional terms into leases provided such terms do not conflict with the policies set forth herein. In rare circumstances, agencies may need to tailor a lease agreement by modifying or deleting standard terms and conditions set forth in the lease template. Agencies must first notify DOA prior to modifying or deleting such terms and conditions, provide an explanation for the need for such change, and obtain DOA consent prior to entering a lease with such changes.

Agencies shall be responsible for ensuring that nothing in their lease agreements is inconsistent with this policy. The provisions in agency lease agreements addressing Rental Rates shall be written in such a way as to ensure that agencies may implement any Rental Rate changes mandated by this policy and/or by statute. Agencies shall submit all signed lease agreements and evidence of renters insurance from all employee tenants to the DOA within thirty (30) days of receipt.

VII. AGENCY USE OF RENTAL REVENUE

Under section 16.40(19) of the Wisconsin Statutes, agencies that own Housing Rental Units and have program revenue or segregated revenue appropriations for deposit of housing receipts are required to deposit all revenues received from rents into that appropriation or account and to pay all expenses for maintenance of such housing from that account. If an agency does not have a program revenue or segregated revenue appropriation that is specific to the deposit of housing receipts, the agency must create a separate subaccount within its program revenue or segregated revenue appropriation account for the deposit of all revenues received from rents. Where an agency has discretion in determining Adjusted Rental Rates it should take into consideration the cost of maintenance for its units and the cost of periodic appraisals to ensure that deposits into the applicable account or subaccount are sufficient to cover such costs.

VIII. PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW OF RETAINING STATE-OWNED HOUSING UNITS AND DISPOSITION PROCEDURES

Under section 13.48(14)(d) of the Wisconsin Statutes, agencies are required to submit to DOA an inventory of all real property under their jurisdiction every two years. Any agency that owns Housing Rental Units is required to include such units in its biennial inventory. Agencies must also specifically identify any underutilized assets in their inventory. As part of this biennial process agencies that own Housing Rental Units shall review their inventory and determine whether any such unit(s) should be identified as underutilized. For purposes of this policy, underutilized may include Housing Rental Units, whether occupied or not, for which an agency has determined that continued ownership is no longer in the state's best interest.

As part of the biennial real property inventory process, DOA must obtain appraisals of all properties DOA has identified for potential sale, which would include any Housing Rental Units. DOA must then submit an inventory containing the location, description, and fair market value of each property identified for potential sale to the State Building Commission.

If an agency determines that a Housing Rental Unit should be sold or otherwise disposed of, it is not required to wait until it submits its biennial real property inventory to DOA. The agency may inform DOA that it has identified the unit for possible disposition.

Once a Housing Rental Unit has been identified for potential sale, the procedures for disposition vary depending on which agency will be responsible for carrying it out. Some agencies have independent statutory authority to dispose of real property under their control. With certain limited exceptions, DOA has authority under section 16.848 of the Wisconsin Statutes to dispose of real property owned by the state, regardless of which agency has jurisdiction over it. DOA and the agencies should work cooperatively and should consult with their respective legal counsel to determine the proper procedures for disposing of any housing rental unit.

IX. PROCEDURE FOR PERIODIC REVIEW OF SYSTEM OF POLICIES

DOA is statutorily required to periodically review the state's system of state-owned housing administered by agencies for possible changes. In compliance with this responsibility, DOA shall conduct a biennial review of this policy. Not later than June 30 of each even-numbered year, DOA shall send a written communication to all agencies that own and operate Housing Rental Units requesting such agencies to provide DOA with recommended changes, if any, to this policy. Agencies shall be given thirty days to provide responses. If DOA or any agency proposes a change to this policy, DOA shall schedule a meeting, inviting any agency that owns or operates Housing Rental Units to participate. Participation in such meetings shall be at each agency's discretion. Once DOA and the agencies have met to discuss proposed changes, DOA shall decide whether to implement them. If DOA chooses to make changes to this policy, it must prepare a report recommending such changes and submit it to the Joint Committee on Finance for passive review pursuant to section 16.004(8)(am) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

X. EXCEPTIONS

This system of rental policies does not apply to the following:

- 1. The Governor's Executive Residence;
- **2.** Residences occupied by the President of the UW System, the President-Emeritus of the UW Madison, or Chancellors within the UW System;
- **3.** Graduate student housing where eligibility for residency is not determined by employment status;
- **4.** Residences within multi-unit properties that are open to employees and non-employees alike, where employees are not given preference occupancy or rental rates, and where the agency can demonstrate that the rental rates are market-based.